

Instruction Manual:

AG Precision PRO Series

Models: AG100-AG500, AG1000-AG4000 **AGN Analytical PRO Series** Models: AGN100-AGN200



Table of Contents

1.	Cautionary Notes and Precautions	3
	1.1 Important Handling Cautions and Warnings	4
2.	Specifications	5
3.	Keys, Display Indicators and Abbreviations	7
4.	Parts Descriptions	8
5.	Unpacking Balance and Getting Started	10
6.	External Keyboard Connection (optional)	12
7.	Functions, Descriptions and Definitions	13
8.	Main Menu.	14
	8.1.Mode Setup.	14
	8.1.1. Weighing	15
	8.1.2. Parts Counting.	16
	8.1.3. Check Counting.	18
	8.1.4. Percent Weighing	19
	8.1.5. Totalizing.	21
	8.1.6. Compounding.	22
	8.1.7. Check Weighing	23
	8.1.8. Animal and Dynamic Weighing	25
	8.1.9. Display Hold.	27
	8.1.10.SQC Process Control.	28
	8.1.11. Tare Setup	30
	8.2.Units of Measure	31
	8.3.Configurations.	32
	8.3.1.Auto-Zero	32
	8.3.2.Print	33
	8.3.2.1 GLP	33
	8.3.2.2Print Details	34
	8.3.3.Filter	34
	8.3.4. Power Save and LCD Contrast	35
	8.3.5. R \$ 232	36
	8.3.6.USB Configuration	36
	8.3.6.1 PC Connection via USB	37
	8.3.7. Time and Date Adjustment	38
	8.3.8.Reset and Default Restore	39
	8.3.9. Erasing the Database	39
	8.4. Calibration	40
	8.4.1. Auto Calibration Setting and Adjustment	41
9.	Using Functions and Modes	42
	9.1. Weighing	42
	9.1.1. Taring	42

9.1.2.Clearing a Tare	43
9.2. Parts Counting.	44
9.2.1.Automatic.	44
9.2.1.1 Counting Parts for the First time	44
9.2.1.2 Counting Parts which Have Been Previously Stored in the Scale's Database	46
9.2.2.Manual	48
9.3.Check Counting	49
9.3.1. Storing a Limit Set into the Scale's Database	52
9.4.Percent Weighing.	52
9.4.1.Automatic	52
9.4.1.1 Percent Weighing for the First Time	52
9.4.1.2 Percent Weighing with Stored Reference Weights	55
9.4.2. Manual.	56
9.5.Totalizing	57
9.6.Compounding.	59
9.7.Check Weighing.	61
9.7.1. Storing a Limit Set into the Scale's Database	62
9.8. Animal and Dynamic Weighing	63
9.9.Display Hold	64
9.10.SQC Process Control.	65
9.10.1. Storing a Limit Set into the Scale's Database	66
10. Using the Scale's Alphabet for Data Entry	67
11.Connecting and Using a Barcode Scanner with the Scale's Database	68
11.1. Connecting the Scanner	68
11.2. Assigning Barcodes to Samples or Limit Sets	68
11.3. Recalling a Previously Stored Sample or a Limit Set from the Database	68
12. Technical Information	69
13.Common Error and Troubleshoots	70
14.Maintenance	71
15.Accessories	71
16.Replacement Parts	72
17.Limited Warranty	72

Chapter 1: Cautionary Notes

The TORBAL Precision scale is a sensitive and a delicate instrument. Always handle your scale with care.

The correct location and proper environment makes an important contribution to the accuracy of the weighing results of TORBAL precision scales.

The optimum location for your scale:



- Stable, vibration-free base as horizontal as possible
- Away from direct sunlight
- Not exposed to high temperature variations
- Away from direct drafts
- The best location is on a stable bench away from direct drafts, doors, windows, radiators and air conditioner vents.

CAUTION:	 The scale is designed for indoor use only Do not operate the scale in herendous error op conditions
	 Do not operate the scale in hazardous areas or conditions. Do not use the scale in locations subject to high humidity or dust levels. Do not connect cables in ways other than those mentioned in this manual. Be sure to set the scale on a firm, stable, horizontal surface. Never stand on or lean on this product. Equipment may fall or collapse, causing breakage and possible injury. Before moving the product, unplug it and unplug all cables connected to it. When storing, transporting or returning the scale for service, always use the original packaging.
WARNING:	 Never attempt to repair, disassemble or modify the scale yourself. Tampering with the scale may result in injury and cause more damage to the equipment. Be sure to use the specified power source. Do not allow foreign matter to fall into the scale. If water or other liquid spills into the scale, do not continue to use it. Unplug the power cord immediately and contact technical support.

1.1. Important handling Cautions and Warnings



Always handle your scale with care. Damage caused by improper handling is not covered under the scale's warranty.

Never drop or throw any articles onto the scale's pan or onto any other parts of the unit!
DO NOT let the scale fall or drop from its tabletop surface!
When moving the scale do not press or apply force onto the scales pan!
DO NOT pass or handle liquids directly over the scale to avoid spillage and liquid damage!

Chapter 2: Specifications

TORBAL		Model							
		AG100	AG200	AG300	AG500	AG1000	AG2000	AG3000	AG4000
Ca	pacity	100g	200g	300g	500g	1000g	2000g	3000g	4000g
Reada	ability (d)		0.0)01g			0.	01g	
Repeatabi Divi	lity (Standard nation)		0.0)01g		0.01g			
Lin	nearity		+/-0).002g			+/-0).02g	
Stabilizatio	n time (typical)		Appro	ox. 3 sec			Appro	ox. 3 sec	
Tare	e Range	-100g	-200g	-300	-500	-1000	-2000	-3000	-4000
Accur	acy Class					Ι			
Automa Cali	tic Internal bration				Y	YES			
Time Co	onfiguration				1h, 2,h, 3	h, 4h, 5h, 6h			
Tem Confi	perature guration				0.5°C, 1.0°C	C, 1.5°C, 2.0°C			
Automati Adiustme	c Calibration nt Masses (g)	20,50, 100	50, 100, 200	100, 200, 300	100, 200, 500	200, 500, 1000	500, 100, 2000	1000, 2000, 2000	1000, 2000, 4000
Pan D	imension		120) mm	1		165 mm	x 165 mm	<u> </u>
Draf	t Shield		Opt	ional			Not R	equired	
Scale	Dimension		1		216 x 34	45 x 90 mm			
Operating Temperature					+15°C	to +30°C			
PS	2 Port	Standard							
RS232 Port		Bidirectional							
USB		Standard							
Power Supply		Input: 120VAC 60Hz 15W Output: 12VDC 500mA							
Display Type					Graph	ical LCD			
Display Size		30mm x 100mm Weighing Parts Counting Animal Weighing Check Weighing Display Hold Percent Weighing Totalizing Check							
Application Modes		weigning, Pa	Counting, Counting	Animal weigh g, Compounding	g, Statistics, SQ	QC Quality Cor	y Hold, Percent atrol, 512 KB L	ibrary Bank	talizing, Check
Weighing Units		Grams, Milligrams, Kilograms, Carats, Pounds, Newton, Grains, Ounces Troy, Pennyweight							
Scale's Net Weight (lb/kg)		5kg/11lbs							
Parts	Sample Size		1 through 100 or any						
Counting	Min Piece Weigh	30mg					30	0mg	
Check	Sample Size	1 throug				h 100 or any			
Counting	Min Piece Weigh	30mg			300mg				
	Min Reference		100mg				1	1 g	
Percent	Weight					_			
Weighing	% Resolution Displayed	0.1% (100mg to 70) 0.01% (7g to 70g) 0.1% (1g to 70g) 0.01% (70g to 700g)				700g)			
	(Reference		0.1% (100mg to 7g), 0.01% (7g to 70g) 0.001% (>70g)				0.001% (>700g)		
	Tiny Intervals				3sec. 5sec.	, 10sec., 15sec.			
Animal	Modes (Min				(100)				
weighing	Weight)	Manua	u, Auto (10mg	g), Semi-Auto (iomg)	Manua	ai, Auto (100m)	g), Semi-Auto	(100mg)
Totalizing	Modes (Min Weight)	Manua	al, Auto (10mg	g), Semi-Auto (10mg)	Manual, Auto (100mg), Semi-Auto (100mg)			
Display Hold	Modes (Min Weight)	Manual, Auto (10mg), Semi-Auto (10mg)			Manual, Auto (100mg), Semi-Auto (100mg)				

TORBAL		Model			
		AGN100	AGN200		
Capacity		100g	200g		
Read	dability (d)	0.0001g			
Repeatal Di ^v	bility (Standard vination)	0.0001g			
L	inearity	+/-0.0002g			
Stabilizati	on time (typical)	Approx. 3 se	x		
Та	re Range	-100g	-200g		
Αςςι	uracy Class	Ι			
Automatic I	nternal Calibration	YES			
Time C	Configuration	1h, 2,h, 3h, 4h, 5	ih, 6h		
Temperatu	re Configuration	0.5°C, 1.0°C, 1.5°C	C, 2.0°C		
Automa Adjustm	tic Calibration ent Masses (g)	20,50, 100	50, 100, 200		
Pan	Dimension	120 mm			
Dra	aft Shield	Optional			
Scale	Dimension	216 x 345 x 90	mm		
Operatin	g Temperature	+15°C to +30°C			
P	S2 Port	Standard			
RS	232 Port	Bidirectional			
USB		Standard			
Power Supply		Input: 120VAC 60Hz 15W Out	put: 12VDC 500mA		
Display Type		Seven Segment	LCD		
Display Size		30mm x 100n	nm		
Applic	ation Modes	Weighing, Parts Counting, Animal Weighing, Check Weighing, Display Hold, Percent Weighing, Totalizing, Check Counting, Compounding, Statistics, SQC Quality Control, 512 KB Library Bank			
Weig	ghing Units	Grams, Milligrams, Kilograms, Carats, Pounds, New	vton, Grains, Ounces Troy, Pennyweight		
Scale's Ne	t Weight (lb/kg)	6kg/14lbs			
Parts	Sample Size	1 through 100 or any			
Counting	Min Piece Weigh	3e (30mg)			
Check	Sample Size	1 through 100 o	r any		
Counting	Min Piece Weigh	3e (30mg)			
	Min Reference Weight	1e (1mg)			
Percent Weighing	% Resolution Displayed		70 \ 0.0016 (70)		
_ _	(Reference	0.1% (100mg to 7g), $0.01%$ (7g to	.o 70g), 0.001% (>70g)		
	weight)	2 5 10 15			
Animal	Modec (Min	3sec., 5sec., 10sec., 15	sec. of any		
Weighing	Weight)	Manual, Auto 1e (1mg), Sen	ni-Auto 1e (1mg)		
Totalizing	Modes (Min Weight)	Manual, Auto 1e (1mg), Sen	ni-Auto 1e (1mg)		
Display Hold	Modes (Min Weight)	Manual, Auto 1e (1mg), Sen	ni-Auto 1e (1mg)		

Chapter 3: Keys, Display Indicators and Abbreviations

Kov	Duimoury Function	Secondary
кеу	Primary Function	Function
I\Q	Power On and Power Off	-
↔€>	Tare – used to tare the weighing pan	N/A
→ 0 ←	Zero – used to zero the scale (Legal for Trade models only)	N/A
ENTER	Enter – used to accept and confirm commands	N/A
MENU	Menu – used to access the main menu	Number ``9" key
CLR	Clear – used to clear and cancel operation	N/A
	Navigation Keys – used to navigate through the menus and functions	N/A
2	Function Key – used access database and secondary function	Number ``0″ key
Ð	Data Transfer – used to print data or transfer data to a PC via the RS232 communication port	Number "7" key
•	Calibration Key - used to initialize internal calibration	Number ``8″ key
F1	Function Key	Number ``1" key
F2	Function Key	Number "2" key
F3	Function Key	Number ``3" key
F4	Function Key	Number ``4" key
F5	Function Key	Number ``5″ key
Display Indicator	Description	
	Stability Indicator - The weighing result has stabilized and an accurate readir	ng may be taken.
→0←	Zero - The scale is maintaining a "center of zero" condition. (Legal for Trade	models only)
AUT	AZSM (Automatic Zero Setting Mechanism) is enabled. Always enabled in Leg	gal for Trade models.
OFF	Power Off - The scale is turned OFF and in standby mode.	
Diff.	Difference	
SPL / SAPL	Sample or Samples	
LOCK	Display Locked	
PCS	Parts Counting	
СНКС	Check Counting	
PERC	Percent Weighing	
ТОТ	Totalizing	
COMP	Compounding	
СНКЖ	Check Weighing	
ANL	Animal Weighing	
HLD	Display Hold	
SQC	SQC Process control	

Chapter 4: Parts Description

AG Models:











Side View



Pan Base



Pan



AC Adapter



RS232 Serial Port

Service Switch

Level Indicator

AC Adapter Socket



- 1 Pan, 2 Pan Base, 3 Draft Ring, 4 Weighing Chamber Base, 5 Keypad, 6 Adjustable Legs, 7 Level Indicator, 8 LCD Display, 9 Weighing Chamber, 10 AC Adapter Socket,
- 11 Service Switch, 12 RS232 Serial Port



- 1 Pan, 2 Pan Base, 3 Draft Ring,
- 4 Chamber Base, 5 Level Indicator,
- 6 Adjustable Legs

Chapter 5: Unpacking the Balance and Getting Started

1. Carefully remove the scale, pan, and all of its components out of the packaging and place them on a stable base where the scale will not be affected by any mechanical vibrations or air movements.



2. *AG Modes:* After removing the pan base and the pan from their packaging, carefully install the pan base onto the scale by seating it on the pan support located in the middle of the scale. Once the pan base has been installed, carefully place the pan on the base as shown below.



AGN Models:

After removing the chamber base (4), draft ring (3), pan base (2), and the pan (1) from their packaging, carefully install the chamber base (4) on the case of the balance as shown below. Once the chamber base is in place, install the draft ring (3). Once components 4 and 3 are in place install the pan base onto the scale by placing it on the pan support located in the middle of the scale. Once the pan base has been installed, carefully place the pan on the base as shown.



3. Once the pan has been installed, level the scale by adjusting the rear feet until the level indicator shows the "air bubble" is in the center position of the sight glass. The level indicator is located in the rear left side of the scale.



4. After leveling the scale, you may plug the AC adaptor to the AC adaptor socket located in the rear of the scale.



- 5. When the AC adapter is plugged into the wall outlet, the scale will turn "ON" automatically, initialize itself, perform automatic internal calibration and enter weighing mode.
- 6. To put the scale into standby mode, leave the AC adaptor plugged into both the scale and the wall outlet and press the Power "OFF" button (I/O). The "OFF" indicator will light up in the upper left corner of the display signaling the scale is in standby mode.

Chapter 6: External Keyboard Connection (Optional)

Any PC external keyboard can be connected to the scale via the PS2. An external keyboard allows you to input data quickly and easily. To connect a PC keyboard to the scale, follow the steps below.

- 1. Clear the pan and turn the scale off.
- 2. Locate the keyboard connection port at the rear of the scale, marked "keyboard."
- 3. Insert the keyboard connector into the scale's port.



4. Turn the scale on.

Note: Some keyboard keys remain disabled and do not work with the scale (i.e. function keys, Shift, Control etc...). Do not use the number keypad located to the right of your keys. To key in numbers always use the number keys in the upper row of the keyboard.

Chapter 7: Functions, Descriptions and Definitions

- Parts Counting is used to count parts or pieces of articles based on their average piece weight.
- **Check Counting** is used to verify whether a parts counting result falls within specified threshold limits.
- **Percent weighing** is used to establish the relative weight of an unknown, compared to that of a stored reference weight and expressed as a percent.
- Totalizing is used for summation of sequential weighing results of items or articles.
- **Compounding** is used for weighing and summing individual ingredients such as powers or liquids during recipe making or mixing compounds.
- Check weighing is used to check whether a weight of an object falls within specified threshold limits.
- Animal and dynamic weighing is used to weigh animals or objects which are in motion while on the pan.
- **Display hold** is used to lock and retain a weighing result on the display until cleared.
- Statistical quality control (SQC) is used to establish a trend analysis and statistical data of samples in relation specified threshold limits.

Chapter 8: Main Menu

Main Menu is used to configure the scale and it's weighing modes. Before entering the menu complete and clear active functions by pressing the CLR key.

1. To enter the Main Menu press the MENU key. Once the MENU key is pressed the menu options will be displayed.



8.1. Mode Setup

Torbal AG and AGN Scales can operate in ten application modes: Weighing, Parts Counting, Check Counting, Percent Weighing, Totalizing, Compounding, Check Weighing, Animal Weighing, Display Hold, and SQC Process Control. Before an application mode can be used it must be enabled and configured. To use an application mode a quick key (Function keys F1 through F5) should be assigned (recommended). Quick keys allow quick toggling between functions. By factory default the scale is in the weighing mode. To enable other application modes follow the steps below.

1. From the Main Menu select "*Mode Setup*" and press the ENTER key. A list of available applications and modes will be displayed.



8.1.1. Weighing

1. To configure the Weighing Function use the navigation keys to select "*Weighing*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status and available weighing options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "ON".



2. To assign a "*Quick Key*" use the navigation keys to select "*Quick Key*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed "*Warning Quick Key Already In Use!*" To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

3. To exit the Weighing set up select "*Exit*" and press the ENTER key.

8.1.2. Parts Counting

1. To configure the Parts Counting Function use the navigation keys to select "*Parts Counting*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status and available parts counting options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "*ON*".



- 2. To assign a default "*Sample Size*" that will be used in calculating the average piece weight use the navigation keys to select "*Sample Size*" and press ENTER. To select a preset "Sample Size" use the navigation keys to toggle until a desired sample size is displayed (1, 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200, 500). To assign a custom "Sample Size" use the number keys on the scale's keypad to key in a desired value. Once the desired "*Sample Size*" is selected or entered, press the ENTER key to set and confirm the selection.
- 3. To select an operating mode use the navigation keys to select "*Mode*" and press ENTER. By default parts counting is set to "*Auto*" (Automatic). To operate parts counting in "*Manual*" use the navigation keys to select "*Manual*" and press ENTER.

Parts Coun	Parts Counting Operating Modes				
	When set to automatic the balance allows you to create a database of samples and				
Automatic	average piece weights. Each sample can be labeled with a unique name or an alpha				
Automatic	numeric code and stored in the scale's internal memory along with its average piece				
	weight. This eliminates the need for establishing a new average piece weight every time				
	a part is counted.				
	When using parts counting in manual, the database feature is disabled and samples size,				
Manual	as well as, average piece weight is not stored in the scale's memory. The sample size				
Ivianual	must be manually counted and an average piece weight must be established every time				
	part counting is performed.				

- Fulcrum Inc.
- 4. To enable sample labeling use the navigation keys to select "*Sample Labeling*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to enable or disable sample labeling. Once a desired selection is made press the ENTER key.

"Sample Labeling" applies to the "Automatic Mode" only. It allows the user to assign a unique name to a sample which is then stored in the scales database. When set to "*OFF*" the scale will not assign or display names of the samples.

5. To assign a "*Quick Key*" use the navigation keys to select "*Quick Key*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed *"Warning Quick Key Already In Use!"* To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

6. To configure the scale's display during parts counting use the navigation keys to select "*Display Setup*" and press the ENTER key. To disable information from displaying during the function use the navigation keys to highlight the desired selection and press the ENTER key to remove the check mark. Once the check mark has been removed the information will not display while performing parts counting.

Parts C	ounting	- Display Setup	
Unscre	an Instr	uctions	
Sample	Size		ENTER
EXIC			E.

7. To exit Parts Counting set up use the navigation keys to select "*Exit*" and press ENTER.

8.1.3. Check Counting

1. To configure the Check Counting Function, use the navigation keys to select "*Check Counting*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status and available Check Counting options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "*ON*".



- 2. To assign a default "Sample Size" that will be used in calculating the average piece weight use the navigation keys to select "Sample Size" and press ENTER. To select a preset "Sample Size" use the navigation keys to toggle until a desired sample size is displayed (1, 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200, 500). To assign a custom "Sample Size" use the number keys on the scale's keypad to key in a desired value. Once the desired "Sample Size" is selected or entered press, the ENTER key to set and confirm the selection.
- 3. To enable Limit Set Labeling use the navigation keys to select "*Limit Set Labeling*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to enable or disable Limit Set labeling. Once a desired selection is made press the ENTER key.

"Limit Set Labeling" allows the user to assign a unique name to a Limit Set which is then stored in the scales database. When set to *"OFF"* the scale will not assign or display names of the Limit Set.

4. To assign a "*Quick Key*" use the navigation keys to select "*Quick Key*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed "*Warning Quick Key Already In Use!*" To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

5. To configure the scale's display during check counting use the navigation keys to select "*Display Setup*" and press the ENTER key. To disable information from displaying during the function use the navigation keys to highlight the desired selection and press the ENTER key to remove the check mark. Once the check mark has been removed the information will not display while performing check counting.

Check Counting - Display Setup	
Munsersen Instructions Mulimit Set Name	
⊠ Count Difference ⊠ SamPle Size Exit	

6. To exit Check Counting set up use the navigation keys to select "*Exit*" and press ENTER.

8.1.4. Percent Weighing

1. To configure the Percent Weighing Function, use the navigation keys to select "*Percent Weighing*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status and available Percent Weighing options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "*ON*".



2. To select an operating mode use the navigation keys to select "*Mode*" and press ENTER. By default Percent Weighing is set to "*Auto*" (Automatic). To operate Percent Weighing in manual use the navigation keys to select "*Manual*" and press ENTER.

Percent Weighing Operating Modes				
	When set to automatic the balance allows you to create a database of reference weights. Each reference weight can be labeled with a unique name or an alpha numeric code and			
Automatic	stored in the scale's internal memory along with its weight representing 100%. This eliminates the need for establishing a new reference weights every time percent			
	weighing is performed.			
	When using Percent Weighing in manual the database feature is disabled and reference			
Manual	weights are not stored in the scale's memory. A reference weight equaling 100% must			
	be established every time Percent Weighing is performed.			

3. To enable Reference Weight Labeling use the navigation keys to select "*Reference Labeling*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to enable or disable reference weight labeling. Once a desired selection is made press the ENTER key.

"Reference Labeling" applies to the "Automatic Mode" only. It allows the user to assign a unique name to a sample which is then stored in the scales database. When set to *"OFF"* the scale will not assign or display names of the reference weights.

4. To assign a "*Quick Key*" use the navigation keys to select "*Quick Key*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed "*Warning Quick Key Already In Use!*" To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

5. To configure the scale's display during percent weighing use the navigation keys to select "*Display Setup*" and press the ENTER key. To disable information from displaying during the function use the navigation keys to highlight the desired selection and press the ENTER key to remove the check mark. Once the check mark has been removed the information will not display while performing Percent weighing.



6. To exit Percent Weighing set up use the navigation keys to select "*Exit*" and press ENTER.

8.1.5. Totalizing

1. To configure the Totalizing Function, use the navigation keys to select "*Totalizing*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status and available Totalizing options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "ON".



2. To select an operating mode use the navigation keys to select "*MODE*" and press ENTER. By default Totalizing is set to "*Auto*" (Automatic). To operate Totalizing in manual use the navigation keys to select "*Manual*" and press ENTER.

Totalizing Operating Modes				
Automatic	Totalizing and Adding :	When set to Automatic, the scale will automatically		
	Automatic	add the first stable weight reading to the total.		
Manual	Totalizing and Adding : Manual	When set to Manual each weigh has to be manually		
		added to the total by pressing a designated key.		

3. To assign a "*Quick Key*" use the navigation keys to select "*Quick Key*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed "*Warning Quick Key Already In Use!*" To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

4. To configure the scale's display during totalizing use the navigation keys to select "*Display Setup*" and press the ENTER key. To disable information from displaying during the function use the navigation keys to highlight the desired selection and press the ENTER key to remove the check mark. Once the check mark has been removed the information will not display while performing totalizing.

Totalizing - Display Setup	
M Unscreen Instructions	
EXIC	ENTER
	C

5. To exit Totalizing set up use the navigation keys to select "*Exit*" and press ENTER.

8.1.6. Compounding

1. To configure the Compounding Function, use the navigation keys to select "*Compounding*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status and available Totalizing options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "*ON*".



- 2. To enable Ingredient Labeling use the navigation keys to select "*Ingredient Labeling*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to enable or disable ingredient labeling. Once a desired selection is made press the ENTER key.
- 3. To enable the Filling Gauge use the navigation keys to select *"Filling Gauge"* and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to enable or disable the filling gauge feature. Once the desired selection is made press the ENTER key.
- 4. To enable or disable the Remaining to Fill feature use the navigation keys to select the "*Remaining to Fill*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to enable or disable the remaining to fill feature. One the desired selection is made press the ENTER key.

5. To assign a "*Quick Key*" use the navigation keys to select "*Quick Key*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed "*Warning Quick Key Already In Use!*" To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

6. To configure the scale's display during compounding use the navigation keys to select "*Display Setup*" and press the ENTER key. To disable information from displaying during the function use the navigation keys to highlight the desired selection and press the ENTER key to remove the check mark. Once the check mark has been removed the information will not display while performing compounding.

ComPounding - Display Setup		
🗹 Unscreen Instructions		2
EXIC	ENT	ER
	(T L
	(Ľ

7. To exit Compounding set-up use the navigation keys to select "*Exit*" and press ENTER.

8.1.7. Check Weighing

1. To configure the Check Weighing Function, use the navigation keys to select "*Check Weighing*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status and available Check Weighing options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "*ON*".



2. To enable Limit Set Labeling use the navigation keys to select "*Limit Set Labeling*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to enable or disable Limit Set labeling. Once a desired selection is made press the ENTER key.

"Limit Set Labeling" allows the user to assign a unique name to a Limit Set which is then stored in the scales database. When set to *"OFF"* the scale will not assign or display names of the Limit Set.

3. To assign a "*Quick Key*" use the navigation keys to select "*Quick Key*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed "*Warning Quick Key Already In Use!*" To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

4. To configure the scale's display during check weighing use the navigation keys to select "*Display Setup*" and press the ENTER key. To disable information from displaying during the function use the navigation keys to highlight the desired selection and press the ENTER key to remove the check mark. Once the check mark has been removed the information will not display while performing check weighing.

<u> Check Weighing - Display Setup</u>	
Munscreen Instructions	↔Ţ
M Limit Set Hame M Difference Fxit	
	J. J. J.

5. To exit Check Weighing set-up use the navigation keys to select "Exit" and press ENTER.

8.1.8. Animal and Dynamic Weighing

1. To configure the Animal and Dynamic Weighing Function, use the navigation keys to select "*Animal Weighing*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status and available Animal Weighing options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "*ON*".

MODE SETUP ComPounding Check Weighing Hnimal Weighing DisPlay Hold SQC Process Cont Exit	rol		
Animal Weighing 1.Status : 2.Mode : 3.Time : 4.Quick Key : 5.Display Setup 6.Exit	OFF Auto 5 sec F3		

2. To select an operating mode use the navigation keys to select "*Mode*" and press ENTER. By default Animal Weighing is set to "*Auto*" (Automatic). To operate Animal Weighing in Semi-Automatic or Manual use the navigation keys to select a desired operating mode and press ENTER.

Animal Weighing Operating Modes			
Automatic	Weighing Initialization : Automatic Result Clearing : Automatic Tare : Automatic	When set to Automatic, the scale will automatically begin the animal weighing process. Once the animal is removed from the weighing pan, the scale will automatically tare and prepare for the next weighing.	
Semi- Automatic	Weighing Initialization : Automatic Result Clearing : Manual Tare : Manual	When set to Automatic, the scale will automatically begin the animal weighing process. Once the animal is removed from the weighing pan, the result remains displayed until it is manually cleared. The scale must be manually tared before the next weighing.	
Manual	Weighing Initialization : Manual Result Clearing : Manual Tare : Manual	When set to Manual, the animal weighing process must be manually initialized. Once the animal has been weighed and the pan cleared the result must be manually cleared. The scale must be manually tared before the next weighing.	

- 3. To assign a default weighing time that will be used in calculating the weight dynamically, use the navigation keys to select "*Time*" and press ENTER. To select a "*Preset Time*" use the navigation keys to toggle until a desired Time is displayed (3sec., 5sec., 10sec., 15sec.). To assign a custom time use the number keys on the scale's keypad to key in a desired value. Once the desired time is selected or entered, press the ENTER key to set and confirm the selection.
- 4. To assign a Quick Key to use the navigation keys to select "*Quick Key*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed *"Warning Quick Key Already In Use!"* To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

5. To configure the scale's display during Animal Weighing use the navigation keys to select "*Display Setup*" and press the ENTER key. To disable information from displaying during the function use the navigation keys to highlight the desired selection and press the ENTER key to remove the check mark. Once the check mark has been removed the information will not display while performing animal weighing.

Animal Weighing - Display Setup	
Munscreen Instructions	↔Ţ>
Marine Exit	ENTER

Fulcrum Inc.

6. To exit Animal Weighing set-up use the navigation keys to select "*Exit*" and press ENTER.

8.1.9. Display Hold

1. To configure the Display Hold Function, use the navigation keys to select "*Display Hold*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status and available Display Hold options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "*ON*".



2. To select an operating mode use the navigation keys to select "*Mode*" and press ENTER. By default Display Hold is set to "*Auto*" (Automatic). To operate Display Hold in Semi-Automatic or Manual use the navigation keys to select a desired operating mode and press ENTER.

Display Hold Operating Modes			
Automatic	Weighing Initialization : Automatic Result Clearing : Automatic Tare : Automatic	When set to Automatic, the scale will automatically lock and hold the first stable weight reading on the display. When the weight is removed the scale will automatically clear the result. Once the result is cleared the scale will automatically tare and prepare for next weighing.	
Semi- Automatic	Weighing Initialization : Automatic Result Clearing : Manual Tare : Manual	When set to Semi-Automatic, the scale will automatically lock and hold the first stable weight reading on the display. When the weight is removed it must be manually cleared. Before starting the next weighing the scale must be manually tared.	
Manual	Weighing Initialization : Manual Result Clearing : Manual Tare : Manual	When set to Manually, the first stable weight reading on the display must be locked manually. When the weight is removed it must be manually cleared. Before starting the next weighing the scale must be manually tared.	

3. To assign a "*Quick Key*" use the navigation keys to select "Quick Key" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed "*Warning Quick Key Already In Use!*" To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

4. To configure the scale's display during display hold use the navigation keys to select "*Display Setup*" and press the ENTER key. To disable information from displaying during the function use the navigation keys to highlight the desired selection and press the ENTER key to remove the check mark. Once the check mark has been removed the information will not display while performing display hold.

Display Hold - Display Setup	
M'Unscreen Instructions	$\checkmark \forall \forall$
EXIT	ENTER
	(L
	C

5. To exit Display Hold set-up use the navigation keys to select "*Exit*" and press ENTER.

8.1.10. SQC Process Control

1. To configure the SQC Process Control Function, use the navigation keys to select "SQC Process Control" in "Mode Setup" and press ENTER. The status and available check weighing options will be displayed. If the function is currently in use the status will be set to "ON".



- Fulcrum Inc.
- 2. To enable Limit Set Labeling use the navigation keys to select "*Limit Set Labeling*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to enable or disable limit set labeling. Once a desired selection is made press the ENTER key.

"Limit Set Labeling" allows the user to assign a unique name to a Limit Set which is then stored in the scales database. When set to *"OFF"* the scale will not assign or display names of the Limit Set.

3. To assign a "*Quick Key*" use the navigation keys to select "*Quick Key*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys to select a desired quick key (F1 through F5). Once the desired key is selected press the ENTER key to accept the selection.

If the key is not available (used by a different function) a warning message will be displayed *"Warning Quick Key Already In Use!"* To override the key press ENTER. To abort and select a different function key press the CLR key.

4. To configure the scale's display during SQC Process Control use the navigation keys to select *"Display Setup"* and press the ENTER key. To disable information from displaying during the function use the navigation keys to highlight the desired selection and press the ENTER key to remove the check mark. Once the check mark has been removed the information will not display while performing SQC Process Control.

<u>SQC Process Control - Display Setup</u>	
Munscreen Instructions Mulimit. Set. Name	
Exit	
	Z

5. To exit SQC Process Control set-up use the navigation keys to select "*Exit*" and press ENTER.

8.1.11. Tare Setup

Depending on the application, as well as the function in use, the need to tare before weighing may not be required. By default tare is enabled and most functions require that a tare is performed. If the application does not require a tare before weighing, taring may be turned OFF or set to AUTO. To perform tare set-up follow the steps below.

1. Use the navigation keys to select "*Tare Setup*" in "*Mode Setup*" and press ENTER. The status of tare will be displayed.



- 2. To enable, disable, or set tare to auto, select "Tare Mode" and press the ENTER key.
- 3. Use the navigation keys to make the desired selection and press the ENTER key to accept.

Tare Setup Operating Modes		
On:	When turned on most weighing function require that a tare is performed	
Auto:	When set to Automatic most function prompt to perform a tare although the tare is performed automatically as soon as the weight of the container stabilizes.	
Off:	When set to Off the function never prompts to perform a tare although a tare maybe performed by pressing the "T" Key.	

8.2.Units of Measure

Torbal AG and AGN Scales can operate in ten different units of measure: grams (g), milligrams (mg), kilograms (kg), pounds (lb), ounce (oz), ounce-troy (ozt), carrots (ct), penny weight (pwt), and grains (gn). By factory default the scale is set to weigh in grams (g). To select a different unit of measure follow the steps below:

1. From the Main Menu select "*Units*" and press the ENTER key. A list of available units of measure will be displayed. A check mark is displayed next to the unit of measure currently in use.



2. Use the navigation keys to select a desired unit of measure. Once the selection is made press the ENTER key to set and confirm the new unit of measure. The scale will automatically return to the weighing mode with the new unit selected.



Fulcrum Inc.

8.3.Configurations

The Configuration Menu allows you to configure scale's general settings and parameters.

1. From the Main Menu select "*Configuration*" and press the ENTER key. The configuration options will be displayed.



2. Use the navigation keys to select a desired option and press the ENTER key.



8.3.1. Auto-Zero

All AG/N Scales are equipped with AZSM, the "Auto Zero Setting Mechanism." AZSM automatically maintains a center of zero between +/- 0.1d and 5.0d. To configure, enable, or disable AZSM follow the steps below. (Configuration is not available on Legal for Trade Models where AZSM is always on and set to 0.5d)

- 1. From the Configuration Menu select "Auto-Zero" and press the ENTER key.
- 2. To enable or disable Auto-Zero, select "Status" and press the ENTER key.



- 3. Use the navigation keys to set Auto Zero to "ON" or "OFF."
- 4. Once desired selection has been made press the ENTER key.
- 5. To configure the Auto Zero correction parameter select "Correction" and press the ENTER key.
- 6. Use the scale's numeric keys to key in the Auto-Zero correction value (from 0.1d to 5.0d). Once the value has been entered, press ENTER to accept.

8.3.2. Print

To configure, GLP printing parameters as well as printing details select "*Print*" from the Configuration Menu and press the ENTER key.

CONFIGURATION		
■ Auto-Zero ■ Filter ■ Power-save ■ RS-232C ■ Reset		

8.3.2.1. GLP

To configure, enable, or disable GLP data follow the steps below.

- 1. From the Configuration Menu select "Print" and press the ENTER key.
- 2. To enable and configure GLP data use the navigation keys to select GLP and press the ENTER key.



3. To enable desired GLP parameters use the navigation keys to make a selection and press the ENTER key to place or remove a check mark in order to enable or disable the parameter.

θĴ

ENTER



- 4. To key in parameter data such as "*unit id, user name, and project number*", make the desired selection and press the <u>right</u> navigation key.
- 5. Once the <u>right</u> navigation key is pressed, use the scale's alphabet or an external keyboard to key in the required data. Press ENTER to accept and save.

8.3.2.2. Print Details

To configure Print Set Up follow the steps below.

1. Select "Print Details" from the Print Menu and press the ENTER key.



2. To enable or disable a desired printing detail use the navigation keys to make a desired selection and press the ENTER key to place or remove a check-mark in order to enable or disable the desired detail.

8.3.3. Filter

The filtering function allows the user to perform weighing in an environment where the scale may be exposed to drafts, frequent air movements, or vibrations. Lower Modes compensate for small disturbance and high modes compensate large disturbances. To select an appropriate filtering mode follow the steps below:

- 1. From the Configuration Menu select "Filter" and press the ENTER key.
- 2. Use the navigation keys to select "Status" and press the ENTER key.
- 3. Use the navigation keys to select a desired Mode and press the ENTER key to save the setting.

8.3.4. Power Save and LCD Contrast

1. From the Configuration Menu select "*Power Save*" and press the ENTER key.

Į	ONFIGURATION	
	Auto-Tare	
	Filter	ENTER
	Power-save	(Lat
	Reset	U

2. To change the contrast of your LCD display, select "Contrast" and press the ENTER key.

POWER-SAVE			
1.Contrast 2.Baçkli9ht	ON	3 8	
3.EXIt			ENTER

- 3. Using the <u>left</u> and <u>right</u> arrow navigation keys to adjust the contrast of your display. Once the contrast is at a desired level press the ENTER key to save the setting.
- 4. To turn off the back light of the LCD display, select "*Back Light*" and press the ENTER key.
- 5. Using the <u>left</u> and <u>right</u> arrow navigation keys select "*OFF*". Once the back light is turned off press the ENTER key to save the setting.
8.3.5. RS232

1. From the Configuration Menu select RS-232C and press the ENTER key.



2. To configure the RS232 Port use the navigation keys to select a desired parameter and press the ENTER key.

RS-232C SETTING	8
1.Baudrate 2.Bits 3.Parity 4.Sending mode: 5.Exit	9600 8-bit none button+stab.

3. Use the navigation keys to make the desired selection and press the ENTER key to save the setting.

8.3.6. USB Configuration

- 1. From the Configuration Menu select USB and press the ENTER key.
- 2. To configure the USB Port use the navigation keys to select a desired parameter and press the ENTER key.
- 3. Use the navigation keys to make the desired selection and press the ENTER key to save the setting.

8.3.6.1. PC Connection via USB

Once the USB port has been configured, connect the scale to the PC with a Standard A/B USB cable and follow the "Found New Hardware" configuration wizard as described below.



1. Allow Windows to connect to Windows Update in order to search for software. Select "*Yes, this time only*" and click "Next". Once driver "FT232R USB UART" has been found, select "*Install the software automatically (Recommended)*" and click "Next.

Welcome to the Found New Hardware Wizard Windows will search for current and updated software by looking on your computer, on the hardware installation CD, or on the Windows Update Web site (with your permission). Read our privacy policy	This wizard helps you install software for: FT232R USB UART
Can Windows connect to Windows Update to search for software?	If your hardware came with an installation CD or floppy disk, insert it now.
Yes, this time only Yes, now and every time I connect a device No, not this time	What do you want the wizard to do? What do you want the wizard to do? Install the software automatically (Recommended) Install from a list or specific location (Advanced)
Click Next to continue.	Click Next to continue.
< Back Next > Cancel	< Back Next > Cancel

Fulcrum Inc.	Instruction Manual	– TORBAL AG / AGN	Series
2. Windows will begin inst	allation of the driver	, when completed	click "Finish".
Found New Hardware Wizard Please wait while the wizard installs the software			Completing the Found New Hardware Wizard The wizard has finished installing the software for:
USB Serial Converter			USB Serial Converter
FTLang.dll To C:\WINDOWS\system32	D		
			Click Finish to close the wizard.
< Bac	Next > Cancel		< Back Finish Cancel

3. Once installation of the driver has been completed the scale is ready to communicate with the PC via the USB port.

8.3.7. Time and Date Adjustment

1. From the Configuration Menu select "Time and Date Adjustment" and press ENTER key.



2. To adjust the time use the navigation keys to select "Time" and press ENTER.

Time&Date Ad	justment	
1.Time : 2.Date : 3.Exit	2:25:34 PM 4-16-2009	
	1	

- 3. Use the yellow keys to enter the current time.
- 4. The time is entered in segments: Hours, Minutes, and Seconds. After entering a segment press the ENTER key to move to the next segment.

- 5. To change between AM and PM use the <u>down</u> arrow key and press the ENTER key.
- 6. To change the date select "Date" and press ENTER.
- 7. Use the yellow number keys to enter the current date. The date is entered in segments: Day, Month and Year 00/00/0000. After entering a segment press the ENTER key to move to the next segment.

8.3.8. Reset and Default Restore

1. From the Configuration Menu select "*Reset*" and press the ENTER key.



2. Command "Restore Default Settings? NO/YES" will be displayed.



3. To restore default configuration settings use the arrow keys to select "*YES*" and press ENTER. The scale will restore default configuration settings and return to the Main Menu.

8.3.9. Erasing the Database

1. From the Configuration Menu select "Erase Database" and press the ENTER key.



2. The scale will display a warning indicating that all data will be erased. To confirm the erasure of the entire database using the navigation keys select "*YES*", and press ENTER. To abort select "*NO*".



3. The scale will now display second warning indicating that all data will be permanently lost. To abort using the navigation key select "*NO*", or select "*YES*" to proceed and press ENTER.

Erase Dat	<u>abase na ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana</u>		
OLL DOTO	WARNING !	LOOT	\ ↓ ↓ ↓
HLL DHIH DO	YOU WANT TO PROCEED	2051 :	ENTER
			É
	YES		\cup

WARNING: Proceeding will result in formatting and erasing the entire memory bank. All data will be permanently lost.

4. After proceeding with memory erasure the scale will begin to delete and format the entire database. This process lasts up to 45 seconds as the memory is formatted.

8.4. Calibration

The scale will automatically calibrate itself at start up. Calibration should be also performed periodically or whenever the scale is moved or relocated. To initiate internal calibration at anytime follow the steps below.

1. Make sure the pan is free from any weight and press the calibration key (8).



- 2. The scale will display a command indicating to confirm internal calibration.
- 3. In order to confirm internal calibration and proceed, press the calibration key again. The scale will begin internal calibration.

Calibration can last 30 to 50 seconds, when finished the scale will automatically return to the weighing mode.

8.4.1. Auto Calibration Setting and Adjustment

1. From Main Menu select "*Calibration*" and press the ENTER key. Available calibration options will be displayed.

MAIN MENU 1.Mode setup 2.Units 3.Configuration 4.Calibration 5.Exit		
CALIBRATION 1.External Calibration 2.External Load: 3.Status 4.Time 5.TemPerature 6.RePort Printout	500.000 9 ON 2 h 2.0 °C	

- 2. To adjust the internal calibration mass value with an external calibration weight that has a traceable class certification select "*External Calibration*" and press the ENTER key.
- 3. After pressing the ENTER key follow the prompts displayed on the LCD screen.
- 4. To use a calibration weight that is smaller than the scale's capacity select external load and press ENTER, then use the navigation keys to select the desired load.
- 5. To disable automatic internal calibration use the navigation keys to select "*Status*" and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to enable or disable automatic internal calibration. Once the desired selection is made press the ENTER key.

When disabled calibration will not initiate automatically, it can be performed only by initiating internal calibration with a calibration key.

6. Internal calibration can be configured to calibrate automatically with change of temperature. To set a calibration temperature intervals use the navigation keys to select *"Temperature"* and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to select a desired temperature interval (none, 0.5C, 1C, 1.5C, 2.0C).

When set to none, automatic internal calibration will not initiate due to change in temperature.

- 7. Internal calibration can be also configured to calibrate automatically with change of time. To set a calibration time interval use the navigation keys to select *"Time"* and press the ENTER key. Use the navigation keys once again to select a desired time interval (none, 1h, 2h, 3h, 4h, 5h, 6h).
- 8. To exit the Calibration Menu, use the navigation keys to select "Exit" and press ENTER.

Chapter 9: Using Functions and Modes

9.1. Weighing

1. To begin weighing, press the power button (1/0) to turn the scale ON. The scale will go through its initialization procedure and automatically enter "*Weighing Mode*". The scale is ready to begin weighing as soon as the stabilization () indicator appears on the display.



2. When weighing, always place the mass in the middle of the pan. The weighed result may be taken when the stabilization indicator appears on the display.

9.1.1. Taring

1. If a container is used for weighing, it may be tared. In taring the container, the scale subtracts the weight of the container from the gross weight to obtain the net weight.



2. To tare the weighing container, place it in the middle of the pan. The container's weight will be shown on the display.

3. Once the stabilization indicator appears on the display, the container is ready to be tared. To tare the container, press the "T" button. The display will show a dotted line which indicates the scale has begun the taring process.



		RIF	١G			
NUMBER OF	NUMBER DESIGNATION					

4. When finished taring, the balance will return to "Weighing Mode". The display will indicate 0.000(0)g.

9.1.2. Clearing a Tare

1. To clear the tare, remove the tared object along with the NET weight from the pan. The scale will then display a negative result.



- 2. To clear the tare, press the "T" button.
- 3. The display will show dashed lines indicating the tare is clearing.
- 4. When finished clearing the tare, the scale will return to Weighing Mode.

9.2. Parts Counting9.2.1. Automatic9.2.1.1. Counting parts for the first time

1. Press the FUNCTION key to access the average piece weight database.

j	ar	ts Cou	unting	Sample Selection			
551 002 003 004 005 006	*****	empty empty empty empty empty empty	slot slot slot slot slot slot		8	MENU 9	

- 2. Use the navigation keys to select an "*Empty Slot*" into which the average piece weight will be saved.
- 3. Press the <u>right</u> navigation key to begin counting and average piece weight calculation.
- 4. If required, place a container on the pan and press the "T" key to tare.



5. After tarring the container the scale will display "*Sample On*" indicating to weigh the sample. Manually count out the sample size which was selected in mode set-up and place it in the container located on the pan.



The required sample size is also indicated in the upper left corner of the display (the SPL value).

- 6. The weight of the sample will be displayed as it is placed on the pan.
- 7. Once the weight of the sample stabilizes and the stability indicator appears on the display press the ENTER key to confirm the sample weight.



8. If sample labeling has been enabled, "*Sample Name*" will be displayed indicating you should key in the name of the sample. To key in the name of the sample you may use the scale's alphabet (see chapter 10) or use an external keyboard (see chapter 6). Once the name has been entered press the ENTER key to accept the sample name.



9. The scale will store the sample in the internal memory and the display will indicate the count. At any time add the remaining pieces to perform parts counting.





10. Once an accurate piece count has been taken the container and its content may be removed from the scale. To begin a new parts counting transaction press the CLR key.



9.2.1.2. Counting parts which have been previously stored in the scale's database

1. If required, place a container on the pan and press the "T" key to tare.



2. After tarring the container press the FUNCTION key to access the average piece weight database.

	'ar	ts Cou	unting	Sample Selection				
551 002 003 004 005 006		empty empty empty empty empty empty	slot slot slot slot slot slot		うう	8	MENU 9	

- 3. Use the navigation keys to select a desired average piece weight and press the ENTER key to confirm your selection.
- 4. *"FILL"* will appear on the display indicating to begin counting. At any time during the *"FILL"* command place the pieces into the container.



5. Once an accurate piece count has been taken the container and its content may be removed from the scale. To begin a new parts counting transaction press the CLR key.



9.2.2. Manual

1. If required, place a container on the pan and press the "T" key to tare.





2. After tarring the container the scale will display "*Sample On*" indicating to weigh the sample. Manually count out the sample size which was selected in mode set-up and place it in the container located on the pan.



The required sample size is also indicated in the upper left corner of the display (the SPL value).

- 3. The weight of the sample will be displayed as it is placed on the pan.
- 4. Once the weight of the sample stabilizes and the stability indicator appears on the display press the ENTER key to confirm the sample weight.

Max 50	NS.	e=0.019		3.0019			ലാ	
Sample	00	1	lin.		AUT	PCS	↔î	\sim
SPL:10	l			Ph A	annaithe ann	A		_
Huto				1	J		ENT	FR
				"És" I	l l	VQ		
ENTER	to	accept	the	sample	and	contin	ue 🤤	ſ
0%	1					1	00%	J

5. Display will indicate the count. At any time add the remaining pieces to perform parts counting.





6. Once an accurate piece count has been taken the container and its content may be removed from the scale. To begin a new parts counting transaction press the CLR key.



9.3. Check Counting

1. Press the FUNCTION key to access the limit set database.

Cł	hed	sk Cour	nting	- Limit S	Get Selectio	n			
991 992 993 994 995 996	*****	empty empty empty empty empty empty	slot slot slot slot slot slot			0	8	MENU 9	To o

2. Use the navigation keys to select a "*Desired Limit Set*" and press the ENTER key to confirm your selection.

3. If required, place a container on the pan and press the "T" key to tare.



4. After tarring the container the scale will display "*Sample On*" indicating to weigh the sample. Manually count out the sample size which was selected in mode set up and place it in the container located on the pan.



The required sample size is also indicated in the upper left corner of the display (the SPL value).

- 5. The weight of the sample will be displayed as it is placed on the pan.
- 6. Once the weight of the sample stabilizes and the stability indicator appears on the display press the ENTER key to confirm the sample weight.

Max 50	189	e=0.019		9.0019			<u>Cli</u> j	\frown
Sample	e 00	11	lin.		AUT	PCS		⇔
SPL:10	3			M .	4			
Huto						11		ENITED
				f.			Q	
ENTER	to	accept	the	sample	and	cont	Linue	É.
0%	I						100%	Ľ

7. The display will indicate the numeric value of the sample. At any time add the remaining pieces to perform check counting.





8. As check counting is performed the display will indicate the actual count. If the count is less than the lower limit, the scale will display an "*UNDER*" command. If the count falls within the range, the "*ACCEPT*" command will be displayed. If the count exceeds the upper limit, the "*OVER*" command will be displayed.

Max 5009 e=9.019 390A1D0 Diff:35Pcs ACCEPT	ана вана ант снкс 185 рсз
Max 5009 e=0.019 390A1D0 Diff:80Pcs 1 OVER	AUT CHKC 230 pcs

The value indicating the difference between the actual count and the target point is displayed in the left upper corner of the display.

9. To begin a new check counting transaction, remove container and its content from the pan and press the CLR key.



9.3.1. Storing a limit set into the scale's database

1. Press the FUNCTION key to access the limit set database.

Cł	hed	sk Cour	nting	- Limit Set	Selection			
881 002 003 004 005 006	×~~~~	emPty emPty emPty emPty emPty emPty	slot slot slot slot slot slot		 ○ 	8	MENU 9	J S S

- 2. Use the navigation keys to select an "Empty Slot" into which the limit set will be saved.
- 3. Press the <u>right</u> navigation key. Available limit set fields will be displayed.



- 4. Use the navigation keys to select a desired field. Once the field is selected press the ENTER key and assign the desired criteria.
- 5. After assigning the limit set, select "Exit" and press the ENTER key to accept and save the set.

9.4. Percent Weighing 9.4.1. Automatic

9.4.1.1. Percent weighing for the first time.

1. Press the FUNCTION key to access the reference weight database.

Per	•C6	ent Wei	ighing	() ·	Reference Selection			
991 002 003 004 004		empty empty empty empty empty	slot slot slot slot		\sim	8	MENU 9	
006	2	empty	slot	5	\odot			U

2. Use the navigation keys to select an "*Empty Slot*" in which the reference weight will be saved.

3. Press the <u>right</u> navigation key to store the reference weight and begin percent weighing.

4. If required, place a container on the pan and press the "T" key to tare.



5. After tarring the container the scale will display "*Sample On*" indicating to weigh the reference weight.



6. The weight of the reference weight will be displayed as it is placed on the pan.



7. Once the weight of the reference weight stabilizes and the stability indicator appears on the display press the ENTER Key to confirm the reference weight.

8. If reference labeling has been enabled, "*Reference Name*" will be displayed indicating you should key in the name of the reference. To key in the name of the reference weight you may use the scale's alphabet (see chapter 10) or use an external keyboard (see chapter 6). Once the name has been entered, press the "ENTER" key to accept the reference name.



9. Once the reference weight has been accepted and named the scale will store the reference in the scale's database and display "100%".



10. To perform percent weighing remove the reference weight and place an object on the pan. The scale will express the weight of the object as a percentage of the stored reference weight.



9.4.1.2. Percent weighing with stored reference weights

1. If required, place a container on the pan and press the "T" key to tare.



2. After tarring the container press the FUNCTION key to access the reference weight database. **Percent Weighing – Reference Selection**

[sIs] (1-121-12-1-1							
002	<	empty	slot	>		~~~		MENU	
003	$\langle \cdot \rangle$	empty	slot	>					
004	\leq	empty	slot	>			8	9	K no
005	\leq	empty	slot	\geq		$ \land$			\neg
006	<	empty	slot	\rightarrow	1				\bigcirc

- 3. Use the navigation keys to select a desired reference weight and press the ENTER Key to confirm your selection.
- 4. The scale will display "0.000%" and the name as well as the reference weight will appear in the upper left corner of the display.



5. At any time place the object on the pan. The scale will express the weight of the object as a percentage of the selected reference weight.



9.4.2. Manual

1. If required, place a container on the pan and press the "T" key to tare.







2. After tarring the container the scale will display "*Sample On*" indicating to weigh the reference weight.





- 3. The weight of the reference weight will be displayed as it is placed on the pan.
- 4. Once the weight of the reference weight stabilizes and the stability indicator appears on the display press the ENTER key to confirm the reference weight.

5. Once the reference weight has been accepted the scale will display "100%".



6. To perform percent weighing remove the reference weight and place an object on the pan. The scale will express the weight of the object as a percentage of the reference weight.



9.5. Totalizing

1. If required, place a container on the pan and press "T" key to tare.





2. After performing a tare place the first object on the pan.





Automatic: When set to "*Automatic*" the weight of the object will be added automatically. Once the weight stabilizes, command "*ITEM 00X*" will appear on the display signaling that the weight has been added to the grand total.

Note: In the automatic mode the minimum weighing mass must be equal to or greater than 10d. To see this limit expressed in grams see specifications.

Manual: When set to "*Manual*" the weight of the object must be added manually. Once the weight stabilizes and the stability indicator appears on the display press the ENTER key to add the weight to the grand total. Upon pressing ENTER command "*ITEM 00X*" will appear on the display signaling that the weight has been added to the grand total.

- 3. Once the weight has been added to the total you can remove the object from the pan and perform a tare if necessary.
- 4. Steps one through three can be repeated to add more weighing results to the grand total.
- 5. To view an itemized (Total Report) press the FUNCTION key.

Totali: Item001 Item002 Item003	zim9 = = =	Repo r 3.238 4.303 8.689	े र ज ज ज				MENU	5
TOTAL	=	16.230	9			8	9	C o
F1 PF	RINT	F3	EXIT	F5	CONTINUE			C

- 6. To print the report press F1. To clear and cancel Totalizing press F3. To continue Totalizing press F5.
- 7. To cancel and start a new totalizing transaction presses the CLR key.

Caution: Pressing F3 will cancel and clear all items and totals.

9.6. Compounding

1. If required, place a container on the pan and press "T" key to tare.



2. If Ingredient Labeling has been enabled, the scale will indicate to name the ingredient. To key in the ingredient name you may use the scale's alphabet (Chapter 10) or an external keyboard (Chapter 6).

Ingredient01: DA1H5423	$\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\checkmark}$
Enter the ingredient name and Press ENTER to continue	ENTER

3. If the Remaining to Fill Feature is enabled, the scale will indicate to key in the weight of the ingredient to be weighed. Using the scale's keypad to key in the weight of the ingredient and press ENTER key.



4. Once the information has been entered, the scale will indicate that you can begin adding the ingredient. Add the ingredient until the desired weight is displayed and the stability indicator appears on the display.





- 5. Once a desired weight is displayed press ENTER key to store the ingredient in the scale's memory.
- 6. Once the ingredient has been entered into the scale's memory, the scale is ready for the next ingredient. Repeat Steps 1 through 5 for each ingredient.

The ingredients are retained in the scale's memory until the recipe has either been completed or cleared (CLR). An ingredient can be removed from the pan; the scale can be tared if necessary before the next ingredient is added.

7. To view the recipe total, or to print and save recipes press the FUNCTION key.

Current ReciPe 1018 DAN 5423	Date: 2009-02-26 2.324 9
102: 12G5DG	0.869 9
TOTAL	3.193 9
F1 CONT. F2 PRINT	F3 VIEW F5 DONE

9.7. Check Weighing

1. Press the FUNCTION key to access the limit set database.

F1-	-search		WTER-select >-edit		
001 002 003 004 005 006	<pre> HIGKEL C emPt C emPt </pre>	H 9 slot 9 slot 9 slot 9 slot 9 slot	11. 555712. 555713. 555 3 } }	8	9 9 0

- 2. Use the navigation keys to select a "*Desired Limit*" set and press the ENTER key to confirm your selection.
- 3. If required, place a container on the pan and press the "T" key to tare.



4. Place the object on the pan to check whether the weight of the object falls within the desired designated range. If the weight is less than the lower limit, the scale will display an "UNDER" command. If the weight falls within the range, the "ACCEPT" command will be displayed. If the weight exceeds the upper limit, the "OVER" commands will be displayed.

The value (expressed in percent) indicating the difference between the actual weight and the target point is displayed in the left upper corner of the display.



9.7.1. Storing a limit set into the scale's database

1. Press the FUNCTION key to access the limit set database.

Chec	k Wei9hin9	I - Limit Set Selection	
881 < 882 < 883 < 884 < 885 < 885 < 886 <	empty slot empty slot empty slot empty slot empty slot empty slot		

- 2. Use the navigation keys to select an "Empty Slot" into which the limit set will be saved.
- 3. Press the <u>right</u> navigation key. Available limit set fields will be displayed.



- 4. Use the navigation keys to select a desired field. Once the field is selected press the ENTER key and assign the desired criteria.
- 5. After assigning the limit set, select "*Exit*" and press the ENTER key to accept and save the set.

9.8. Animal and Dynamic Weighing

1. If required, place a container on the pan and press T key to tare.



2. Once the scale has been tared, command "ANIMAL ON" will be displayed. Carefully place the animal in the container.



Automatic and Semi-Automatic: When set to "*Automatic*" and "*Semi Automatic*" the scale will automatically begin the animal weighing process. Animal weighing will begin with the first weight reading.

Note: In automatic and semi automatic modes the minimum weighing mass must be equal to or greater than 10d. To see this limit expressed in grams see specifications.

Manual: When set to "*Manual*", animal weighing must be initialized manually by pressing the FUNCTION key.

3. Once the animal weighing process is initialized the scale will count down the time interval that was selected in mode set up. The countdown will be displayed. During the time interval the scale will record weight readings of the animal and calculate its average weight.



4. After the time interval has elapsed the result will be displayed. The animal can now be removed from the pan.

Automatic: When set to *"Automatic"* the result will automatically be cleared after the animal is removed. The scale will perform an automatic tare and prepare for the next weighing.

Semi-Automatic and Manual: When set to semi automatic or manual the weighing result will remain displayed and it must be manually cleared after the animal has been removed. To clear the weighing result press the CLR key.

9.9. Display Hold

1. If required, place a container on the pan and press "T" key to tare.



- 2. After tarring container place the weight on the pan.
- 3. Once the weight stabilizes and locks, the display will show a lock indicator.



Automatic and Semi-Automatic: When set to "Automatic and Semi Automatic", the scale will automatically lock the weighing result on the display as soon as it stabilizes.

Note: In automatic and semi automatic modes the minimum weighing mass must be equal to or greater than 10d. To see this limit expressed in grams see specifications. *Manual*: When set to *"Manual"*, display hold is initialized by pressing the FUNCTION key.

4. To clear the display in *Semi-Automatic* and *Manual* modes press the CLR key. In the *Automatic* mode the display will clear as soon as the weight is removed from the display.

9.10. SQC Process Control

1. Press the FUNCTION key to access the limit set database.

SQC	Pro	cess	Contr	·ol-	Limit	Set	Selecti	ion			
991 992 993 994 995 996		mpty mpty mpty mpty mpty mpty mpty	slot slot slot slot slot slot				(\odot	8	MENU 9	The second secon

- 2. Use the navigation key to select the "Desired Limit Set" and press the ENTER key to confirm your selection.
- 3. If required, place a container on the pan and press the "T" key to tare.



4. Place the first sample on the pan. Once the weight stabilizes press the ENTER key to accept the weight of the sample.



Note: The number of required samples is displayed in the upper left corner of the display.

- 5. Remove the sample from the pan and weigh the next sample as required.
- 6. Repeat the steps until all samples are entered.
- 7. After entering the last sample an SQC Report will be displayed. To print the report press F1. To view statistical data such as standard and relative deviation, as well as min and max values press F3. To exit and start a new SQC Transaction press F5.

Note: Exiting the report will clear all data.

SRI >+L1 > C >-L1 >-L2		(ePort -) +L2: 40% +L2: 0% +L1: 20% C: 0% -L1: 40% -L2: 0% PRINT		-3 STATS	F5 EXIT
SQL SPL MIN MAX Sum		itats - 24 5 1.001 12.008 30.021	000	Mean Std.Dev.: Rel.Dev.:	6.004 9 4.851 9 80.792 9
	i.	PRINT		-3 REPORT	F5 EXIT

9.10.1. Storing a limit set into the scale's database

1. Press the FUNCTION key to access the limit set database.

SQC F	rocess	Control-	Limit Set	Selection			
001 < 002 < 003 < 004 < 005 < 006 <	empty empty empty empty empty empty	<pre>slot > slot ></pre>			8	MENU 9	N

- 2. Use the navigation keys to select an "Empty Slot" into which the limit set will be saved.
- 3. Press the <u>right</u> navigation key. Available limit set fields will be displayed.
- 4. Use the navigation keys to select a desired field. Once the field is selected press the ENTER key and assign the desired criteria.

LimitSe	t001			
+L2 +L1 C -L1 -L2		10.000 8.000 5.000 3.000 1.000	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	

5. After assigning the limit set, select "*Exit*" and press the ENTER key to accept and save the set.

Chapter 10: Using the scales alphabet

If an external PC Keyboard is not connected to the scale use the scale's keypad to enter letters of the alphabet and other characters. Each number key has an assigned set of characters and letters. Press they key until the desired letter or a character is displayed. Once selected, the scale will move to the next character automatically. For list of character and assigned numbers see the chart below.

Key	Characters	
F1 / 1	1 . , ' ? ! " - () / _ : ; + * = < > [] { }	
F2 / 2	2 A B C a b c	
F3 / 3	3 D E F d e f	
F4 / 4	4 G H I g h i	
F5 / 5	5 J K L j k I	
$\rightarrow 0 \leftarrow / 6$	6 M N O m n o	
□→ /7	7 P Q R S p q r s	
▼/8	8 T U V t u v	
Menu / 9	9 W X Y Z w x y z	
2 /0	0 double press for space	

Chapter 11: Connecting and Using a Barcode Scanner with the Scale's Database

A Barcode Scanner can be used to quickly recall samples or limit sets from the scale's database. To connect the barcode scanner to the scale use a PS/2 Keyboard Wedge Y-Cable Connector.

11.1. Connecting the scanner

- 1. Clear the pan and turn the scale off.
- 2. Locate the keyboard connection port at the rear of the scale, marked "Keyboard."
- 3. Insert the scanner's PS/2 Connector into the scale's port.

Note: Do not use an external power input with the scanner. Power will be supplied through the PS/2 Port.

11.2. Assigning barcodes to samples or limit sets

- 1. Select the function that will be used with your scanner and press the FUNCTION key.
- 2. Use the navigation keys to select a desired slot.
- 3. When asked to enter the name of your sample or limit set scan the barcode associated with the article.

The numeric code will appear in the name field. Some scanners will automatically form an "ENTER COMMAND". If a curser is blinking at the end of your code press the ENTER key.

11.3. Recalling a previously stored sample or a limit set from the database

- 1. Press the FUNCTION key to access the scale's database. Stored limit sets or samples will be displayed.
- 2. Press the F1 key to search the database. A curser will begin to blink at the top of the display. Scan the desired barcode to recall the desired sample or limit set.
- 3. If found the set will be highlighted on the display. Confirm the numeric code and press the ENTER key to continue.

Chapter 12: Technical Information





237mm





Chapter 13: Common Error and Troubleshoots

Error	Cause	Explanation / Solution	
Load error!	Scale load at start up exceeds 10% of the scale MAX capacity	The pan was not empty while the scale was initiating at startup. Clear the pan and restart the scale.	
Capacity exceeded!	Scale range exceeded	The scale has exceeded its weighing capacity. Reduce the weight.	
Zero range exceeded!	Attempt to zero the scale that is beyond the scale's Zero range	Reduce the weight to be zeroed and try again.	
Tare range exceeded!	Attempt to tare the scale that is beyond the Tare range	Place a weight on a pan before taking a tare.	
Tare value not cleared!	Attempt to zero the scale without clearing a prior tare	Remove weight from pan and clear store tare values.	
Unit weight too low!	In Pill Counting Individual sample weight is less that 3e	Be sure that the individual piece weight is grater than 3e	
·		• •	
Load error! (C01)	Load error while initializing. The pan mass is below 10% of the stored value.	Do not touch or move the scale while calibration is in progress. The pan MUST be empty and properly installed.	
Load error! (C02)	Load error while initializing. The pan mass is over 10% of the stored value.	Do not touch or move the scale while calibration is in progress. The pan MUST be empty and properly installed.	
Load error! (C03)	Load error while calibrating. The internal calibration mass is below 10% of the original stored mass.	Do not touch or move the scale while calibration is in progress. The pan MUST be empty and properly installed.	
Load error! (C04)	Load error while calibrating. The internal calibration mass is over 10% of the original stored mass.	Do not touch or move the scale while calibration is in progress. The pan MUST be empty and properly installed.	
Load error! (C05)	Load error while performing second tare during calibration. Mass of the pan is less by more than 1e from the first stored value.	Do not touch or move the scale while calibration is in progress. The pan MUST be empty and properly installed.	
Load error! (C06)	Load error while performing second tare during calibration. Mass of the pan is over by more than 1e from the first stored value.	Do not touch or move the scale while calibration is in progress. The pan MUST be empty and properly installed.	
Load error! (C07)	Load error during second calibration. The difference on the internal calibration mass from the firs to the second calibration is more than 1e.	Do not touch or move the scale while calibration is in progress. The pan MUST be empty and properly installed.	
No external calibration! (C08)	Initial internal calibration test not permitted without prior external calibration	Contact Technical Support	
Calibration failure! (C09)	Internal calibration failed because of timeout in final calibration stage (timeout in 30 seconds without stabilization)	Contact Technical Support	

If any of the following errors are displayed, please contact technical support at (973)-473-6900

EEPROM1 Error	EEPROM1 memory error (shortage of memory, memory is damaged, or check sum error)
EEPROM2 Error	EEPROM2 memory error (shortage of memory, memory is damaged, or check sum error)
EEPROM Error!	EEPROM1 or EEPROM2 memory error
CRC Error xx	Check sum error number xx in EEPROM memory
Service switch OFF!	Attempt to access the Service mode with the Service Switch in the OFF position
A/D range exceeded!	A/D converter range exceeded
A/D converter read error!	No response from A/D converter
Temperature sensor error!	No response from the temperature sensor
Service switch ON!	Attempt to access the Service Mode without a service command

Chapter 14: Maintenance

Cleaning and maintaining your Prescription Scale:

- Before cleaning the scale always unplug the A/C adapter from the electrical outlet.
- Use a soft, slightly damp cloth to clean the exterior housing of your scale,.
- Wipe the scale gently. Do not allow any liquid to enter into the scale.
- Do not apply extensive pressure to the LCD display.
- Do not use chemicals or benzene when cleaning the surface. Corrosive chemicals may damage the finish.
- Alcohol may be used only to clean the scale's stainless steel pan or the draft ring.

Chapter 15: Accessories

Description	Part No.
Draft Shield Cover	301055
RXP-4 Thermal Printer	301060
RS232 PC Cable	301057
Chapter 16: Replacement Parts

Description	Part No	
A/C Adapter	301053	
Pan Assembly	301067	
RS232 Printer Cable	201057	

Chapter 17: Limited Warranty

PURCHASER'S 24-MONTH WARRANTY

Warranty is valid only if the attached warranty registration card is completed and returned within 30 days.

This product is a precision device made to exacting standards of scientific accuracy. It is guaranteed to have been adjusted and inspected for proper workmanship and performance, and certified for its currently advertised specifications before shipment.

Fulcrum Products are warranted against defects in material and workmanship under normal use and service. This warranty is extended only to the first purchaser. This limited warranty will not apply if, upon inspection, it is found that the product was tampered with, misused, overloaded, or abused, mishandled, placed in an improper environment, improperly installed or adjusted, used for a purpose other than that for which it was designed, or repaired by unauthorized personnel.

Fulcrum's liability under this warranty is limited to furnishing labor and parts necessary to remedy the defect covered by this warranty and restore the product to normal operating condition. Purchasers may be charged a minimum repair fee for in-warranty products returned for repair if those products are determined to be problem-free.

To make a claim under this limited warranty, obtain an RMA number from Fulcrum and return the product, carefully packed in its original packaging, shipping prepaid, with the RMA number written on the return package.